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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Situated on the west side of State Highway #3 in the northern New Mexico 
village of Cleveland, the cluster of adobe buildings known as "D. Cassidy & 
Sons General Merchandise" consists of a 50' square store next to a 
commodious family dwelling. A large L-shaped barn and other outbuildings 
stand in the rear amid wagon yards and stock corrals. The complex is 
presently owned by William L. Fahey, a descendant of the Cassidy family, 
which has been prominent in Cleveland's community affairs for the last 
century. Located at the head of the fertile Mora Valley which extends east­ 
ward from the high peaks of the Sangre de Cristo mountains towards the 
plains below, the village is one of several small settlements established 
after Mexican authorities conceded the Mora Land Grant to a group of land­ 
less heads of families in 1835. First known as San Antonio, or Upper Mora, 
to distinguish it from the adjoining plaza of Santa Gertrudis (Lower Mora), 
Cleveland was renamed in .X89.2 when the first U.S. Post Office was 
established and thereafter honored President Grover Cleveland, soon to be 
reelected to his second term of office.

Facing southeast, the store's facade is topped by a false front which 
rises in three steps above the ridge of the pitched roof. The lowest level 
covers the building's nucleus, the original store believed to have been 
built c.1865, which occupies the east third of the present structure. The 
two entrances to this older portion, double glass over wood doors, are still 
in place in the south and east walls. Both are set beneath transoms. 
Resting on a foundation of native sandstone, the massive, 30" thick adobe 
walls are now covered with a hard, rose-colored plaster. Of similar 
construction, the newer part in the building's west two-thirds was added 
soon after 1900. Bordered by a narrow stone and concrete walk, the store's 
main entrance is centered between two large 16 light windows flanked by 
white shutters. Placed side by side over the entrance are two 6 over 6 
double hung windows once surmounted by a large sign on which "D. Cassidy & 
Sons General Merchandise" was spelled out in block letters^.

On each side of the doorway the store's original paneled counters, now 
painted blue and cream, extend towards the rear of the building. Modern 
fixtures for meat, soft drinks and dairy products stand amid the older 
shelves and display cases. Fluorescent light fixtures are suspended from 
the old corrugated metal ceiling. To the left of the entrance and separatee 
from the rest of the rooms by one of the counters and a wicket is a small 
area which served as the store's office and, also, as Cleveland's post 
office until 1948. Here, a large roll top desk is located so that the 
store's owner can observe clerks and customers while working at his accounts 
Behind the desk a low doorway leads to a small, steel reinforced vault whicl: 
protrudes from the structure's southwest corner. It contains the store's 
records from its beginnings to the present and two small safes, one of whict 
is protected by an image of Nuestra Senora_ de Guadalupe painted on the 
inside of the door. Opposite the post office on the right of the entry a 
short run of well-worn stairs*leads down into the building's original
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The enterprise which became known as "D. Cassidy & Sons General 
Merchandise" originated c.1863 when James Thomas, a merchant whose back­ 
ground is unknown, established himself in the New Mexico village of San 
Antonio de Mora. There he purchased a tract of land, a four-room house anc 
a small grist mill from a local resident, Pedro Garcia, and opened for 
business as a comerciante v_ vinatero. One of Thomas 1 employees was a younc 
immigrant named James Doherty (or Dougherty) who was the first of a series 
of brothers and cousins who came to New Mexico from Ireland seeking better 
opportunities. When Thomas died in 1868 his store and other interests were 
acquired from his estate by Doherty and his younger brother John for 
$10,167.50. Store records indicate that the business prospered. 
Substantial profits were made in the 1870s by adopting the usual frontier 
policy of accepting local produce - grain and livestock - in exchange for 
hardware, dry goods and groceries which were hauled to San Antonio by wagor 
train from the railhead at El Moro, Colorado 100 miles to the north.

Within a few years John Doherty had become increasingly concerned with 
his own mercantile and livestock operations and moved his headquarters to 
Lower Mora. In 1881 James again found a replacement from his native land. 
Born in County Donegal October 11, 1852, Daniel Cassidy came to the United 
States with his wife Susan and their three oldest children following a brie 
residence in England. After landing in Baltimore the family came immedi­ 
ately to Doherty's store in Upper Mora where Cassidy was employed as a 
clerk. Ten years later he had accumulated sufficient capital to form a 
partnership with Joseph Doherty, a cousin of James and John, to buy James 1 
mercantile business. Cassidy acquired sole proprietorship in 1903 when 
Joseph Doherty left the Mora Valley for the newly developing ranch country 
to the northeast along the New Mexico-Colorado border, where many of his 
descendants still reside. *

Under Cassidy's direction the store continued to be successful. For the 
first few years of his management other outside partners were admitted for 
brief periods until 1 his sons were old enough to assume responsibility when 
the store was designated "D. Cassidy & Sons, General Merchandise." One of 
the firm's best customers during this period was the Santa Barbara Tie and 
Pole Co. 9 which was then intensively logging on the west slope of the 
Sangre de Cristos. Cassidy pack trains laden with meat and groceries made 
their way over the top to company camps in the Santa Barbara and Rio del 
Pueblo valleys on the other side. As one of Mora County's most prominent 
citizens,Cassidy was active in local politics, serving a term as county

(See Continuation Sheet Page 1)
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Beginning at the northwest corner of the intersection of State Highway #3 
and the county road running south of the Fahey residence; proceeding in a 
southwesterly direction along the north side of said county road for a 
distance of approximately 160'; thence in a northerly direction along a 
certain stone and adobe wall for a distance of approximately 400'; thence
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section. Now used only for storage, this room is lined with shelving and 
green floral wallpaper which blends with the light green ceiling made of 
4"x6" exposed beams and milled lumber.

Adjacent to the store and at right angles to it, the Cassidy residence 
faces the highway. Constructed on an L-shaped floor plan, it too is made 
of adobe topped by a corrugated metal roof. The short or front leg of the 
L is thought to be contemporary with the store while the long leg which 
extends west to provide additional bedrooms was added c.1900. Centered 
symmetrically between two windows.the entrance is sheltered by a simple 
frame porch and railing. The front door, which opens into a short hallway 
is framed by a transom and sidelights. Flanked by a typical Victorian 
parlor on the left and diningroom and kitchen to the right, the hall still 
has soft plastered walls and exposed vigas (beams). Drop ceilings have 
been installed in the other rooms. Decorated with turn-of-the-century 
wallpaper, the parlor contains several pieces of furniture characteristic 
of the period. Although set in the corner in typical New Mexico fashion 
the fireplace is embellished with an ornate mantel obviously imported from 
the East.

Behind the store, and enclosed by stone and adobe walls which form the 
north and west boundaries of the nominated property, the big barn is still 
used to stable the Paheys f saddle horses. Also L-shaped, the north leg 
was formerly a granary where wheat, corn and oats were accepted in 
exchange for credits at the store. Surmounted by a hay loft covered with 
a shed roof, the other leg is divided into stalls and storage for tack, 
harness and other equipment. Although the barn shows the signs of age 
somewhat more than the other two buildings it is, nevertheless, in good 
condition. Because of the concern of the Fahey family the complex remains 
in daily use and is well maintained.

$8
treasurer and as a delegate to New Mexico's Constitutional Convention of
1910. Four years later he diversified his business interests by purchasin< 
one of the valley's largest flour mills, which became known as the "Cassidy 
Mill" (National Register 12/78). Following the death of his first wife in 
1900, Cassidy married Sarah McCluskey and became the father of a second 
family.

In 1929 Cassidy died, thus beginning the fragmentation of his estate 
among his widow and the children of his two marriages. Although the 
store remained open until 1954, divergent interests of the heirs made 
management increasingly difficult. The situation was not resolved for 
twenty years, until a grandson, William L. Fahey»was at last able to
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consolidate the property and reopen the store in 1977 after a thorough 
rehabilitation of the building. Proud of the family's long association 
with the Mora Valley, Mr. and Mrs. Fahey and their children not only 
maintain the house and store but plan the refurbishment of adjoining out­ 
buildings, thus continuing an important tradition.

Territorial Archives of New Mexico, Records of the Secretary of the
Territory, Constitutional Convention Book of 1910; Records of the Auditc 
of the Territory, Audited Reports of Commercial Licenses, Mora County 
1864-1897, State Records Center and Archives, Santa Fe, New Mexico.

Federal Census Reports, 1870, 1880 and 1900.
New Mexico State Business Directory. Denver, 1905, 1915 and 1923.
Coan, Charles F. A History of New Mexico. Chicago, 1925.

in a easterly direction along another stone wall to the west side of 
State Highway #3 for a distance of approximately 160'; thence in a 
southerly direction along the west side of said highway to the point of 
beginning, a distance of approximately 400'.
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